



Table of Contents

Protean Software	3
Protean Software General Navigation	4
Global Enquiry Screens	5
Global Enquiry Filters	7
Global Enquiry – User Defined Filters	
Customer Records	
Creating a Delivery / Site Account	14
Equipment Records	16
The Links Button	
Searching for an existing Stock Record	21
Creating Stock Records	26
Searching for an existing Maintenance Contract	27
Searching for an existing Job	28
Creating Jobs	31
Allocating an Engineer using the Planner Board	35
What are the different Job Status?	
The Hire Cycle	
Searching for an existing Hire Contract	
Creating Hire Contracts	
Internal Messages	40
Tasks	43
Reports	48
Hints & Tips	49



Protean Software

Protean (Pro-tea-un) adjective has two meanings:

- 1. Able to change form: variable, changing in nature or appearance.
- 2. Versatile: showing great variety, diversity or versatility.

The adjective **Protean** comes from Proteus, a Greek sea god. He was the son of Poseidon, god of the sea. Proteus knew all things past, present and future but was able to change his shape at will to avoid prophesying. Each day at noon Proteus would rise from the sea and sleep in the shade of the rocks on the island of Pharos.

Anyone wishing to learn the future had to catch hold of him at that time and hold on as he assumed dreadful shapes, including those of wild animals and terrible monsters.

If none of his ruses prevailed, Proteus resumed his usual form and told the truth. Among those who fought with Proteus to learn the truth was Menelaus, King of Sparta.



Contact Details:

- Address: 1130 1140 Elliott Court
 - Herald Avenue
 - **Coventry Business Park**
 - Coventry
 - United Kingdom
 - CV5 6UB
- **Telephone:** 02476 710310
- **Email:** support@proteansoftware.co.uk
- Website: www.proteansoftware.co.uk



Protean Software General Navigation

Once you have logged into Protean there are 3 Tabs – File / Home / System.



File: contains information about the version of Protean you are running and contact details for Protean Support.

Home: is the tab that you will go to when logged into Protean, this contains all the items you will use on a day to day basis within Protean.

System: is where the settings and setup of Protean is done, so any configuration details will be done through this tab.

Home Tab: this is what we call the Protean Ribbon:



This is broken up into sections for each module that you have access to.

There is a global enquiry button



and a drop down for each section.



If you hit the dropdown it gives you the other functionality to do with this section of Protean.



Depending on which section you click on you will get different options.

The example here is the customers section.

(Again these options can be controlled by access rights).

If you hit the Global Enquiry button, this brings up a list of all the current items within this section of Protean.



These Lists (Global Enquiries) are how each individual user can quickly get the information they need, about that particular module of protean.



Global Enquiry Screens

Every global enquiry has common buttons at the top left, which are also available by right clicking on within the middle of the global enquiry:



Create, creates a new record.

View drills into the record selected.

Pick is used when a global enquiry is bought up within another record.

Print / Export / Send will send your list to Printer / Excel / Email.

Reports will shortut to the reports for this module of Protean

Refresh just refrehses your list (can be set to happen automatically).

The final 2 options are for customising the Global Enquiry view per user.

Choose Fields brings up a lit of fields you can see, tick any you want, untick any you don't want.

This then dispays these fields this one time you are in the global enquiry.

If you wish (per user) to always see these fields, then right click on the global enquiry and click "Save Layout".

Save Layout can also be used to save a users prefernce for a sort order, or column order within each global enquiry screen, which can be achieved by clicking on or dragging a column as below.

Click to sort. Click and hold to drag



Field	Selector	
	Action	
✓	Area	
	Attachments	
	Authority	=
	Cause	
	Chargeable	
	Completed Date	
	Contact Name	
	Contact Tel	
✓	Current Engineer	
	Customer	
	Customer Equip No	
	Depot	
✓	Due Date	
	Due In Days	
	Entered By	Ŧ
D	efault <u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel	

When you are in a record within Protean it will follow a common layout:



The Top left will show you where

Common Layouts & Features:

			you are / what you are looking a
	🗉 Customer - MATTS	COMPANY	2
	General Accounts	Sales Attributes Other Memo	l
		Standard Detail	ils
	Alpha:		Status: Active
	Name:	MATTS COMPANY	
	Street 1:	MATT STREET	
The form	vill be broken		
un into dif	ferent Tabs	MATTVILLE	
		Lipited Kingdom	These Burgandy
	Post Code:		coloued headings
	Phone:	0800 1234567	will break up the
	Fax:		form into contions
	Email:		
	Website:		
	Equipment Contact:		
	Accounts Contact:		
	Reference 1:		
	Reference 2:		
And the bottom of the		Associated Addres	esses
form will have buttons	Invoice Account:	MATT 🔍 MATT	
	Site Route:		Convert to Site
	Area Ref:		
	Depot:	Main Depot 🗨	
The first Courses as a sistent in			
The first 6 are consistant in	1 🛃 🖻 🙆 🛯	Links Modify Alpha	CRM History Create Task Close
every module.			The other ones depend on what
			type of record you are viewing

Other Common Features:

Customer		
	Customer	
MATT		

These (...) buttons will open up a Search screen.

A Magnifying Glass will Drill into a record and move you to that record in Protean.

If you open up a search screen in Protean, its an automatic smart search, so it will wildcard before and after what you type, and you can fill out any, or a combination of search boxes.

E Customer	Search	
-Search Criteria	i	
Alpha:		Chakur
Name:	att	
Address:		Active Prospect Closed Search Reset
Telephone:		
Alpha	Name	Address
MATT	MATTS COMPANY	MATT STREET,,MATT VILLE,,MA77 4EW



Due Date ⊽ 18/07/2017 17:00

18/08/2016 14:23

17/08/2016 13:20 29/07/2016 17:00

28/07/2016 16:43 27/07/2016 17:00 21/07/2016 09:11

20/07/2016 16:54 20/07/2016 15:57 20/07/2016 15:46 20/07/2016 15:36 20/07/2016 15:22

Global Enquiry Filters

On the various Global Enquiry screens, below the icons are a row of filters. These allow you to cut down the data list in the main part of the screen, so that you only see the data you need:

Site	Equip	Status From	Entry	🗸 Туре		~
Depot	Nottingham 🤍 Filter	🗸 🛄 Status To	Awaiting Details	\sim	Filter	Reset

Sorting

Below the filters are the column headings of the data themselves, which can also act as sort buttons. Clicking on them will alter the order of the data below.

For example:

In the Jobs Global Enquiry screen, the list is initially displayed in Job No order with the newest at the top. If you wanted to see the list of Jobs, say, in Due Date order, you can simply click the **Due Date** heading:

NB This sorting can be done on all column headings except 'To Do' on the Jobs Tab.



To further help you find the data you require, you can also filter the data list by the contents of any 'cell' in the data sheet using the Filter button.

For example:

Let's say I wanted to see all the O/S Jobs for a particular Engineer. First of all, find his / her initials in the list of data and then single click to highlight the initials:

Job No	Job Type	Make & Model	Site	Current Engineer	Due Date 🗸	To Do	Entered By	Status	Job Total(£)
17490	Off hire inspection	Avensys Sub Con Cat Scanners	Protean Main Office		18/07/2017 17:00		CJM	Unallocated	0.00
17494	Callout		Compton Packaging		18/08/2016 14:23	Quote Info	CIM	Unallocated	56.00
17493	Callout	Widman 576576	Compton Northern Division		17/08/2016 13:20	Please go and fix this item of equipment asap.	A	Awaiting Complete	31.00
17489	Prepare for hire	HELI HFD30	Protean Main Office	18	29/07/2016 17:00	check equipment	CIM	Waiting Acceptance	0.00
17491	Callout	Widman P200	Business Exhibitions Ltd		28/07/2016 16:43	gergwegwe	CJM	Parts In	108.00
17492	Prepare for hire	Widman P200	Protean Main Office	TS	27/07/2016 17:00	Carry out this CARRY OUT THAT	CIM	Allocated	0.00
17487	Quoted job	A & D L 100	ABS Garages Ltd		21/07/2016 09:11	Asset needs a new upper tube	CIM	Unallocated	610.00
17486	Quoted job	Widman P200	ABS Garages Ltd		20/07/2016 16:54	Needs a new motor	CIM	Entry	780.00
17485	Quoted job	Widkman P200	Compton Northern Division	MC	20/07/2016 15:57	Needs new tube	CJM	Waiting Acceptance	25.68
17483	Call out	Widman P200	Compton Northern Division		20/07/2016 15:46	Carry out service	CIM	Awaiting Complete	30.00
17482	Call out		Compton Northern Division		20/07/2016 15:36		CJM	Unallocated	0.00
17481	Call out		Compton Northern Division	IB	20/07/2016 15:22		CIM	Entry	0.00
17479	Call out	Widman P200	Compton Northern Division		20/07/2016 14:42		CJM	Unallocated	0.00
17475	Call out		Compton Packaging	IB	07/07/2016 11:44		CIM	Entry	105.00
17476	Call out		ABC Second Depot		07/07/2016 10:41	asdasd	CJM	Unallocated	120.00
17474	Quoted job	Widman P200	ABS Garages Ltd		07/07/2016 09:16	This equipment will need a new air tube(Part Number:	CIM	Parts In	44.22
17473	Callout	Mettler-Toledo FOER 4.1.10	Business Exhibitions Ltd	18	06/07/2016 16:54	Test	CJM	Unallocated	0.00
17472	Callout	Widman P200	Business Exhibitions Ltd	18	06/07/2016 15:13	Fit new tubing etc	CIM	Waiting Acceptance	500.00
17470	Quoted job	Widman P200	ABS Garages Ltd		05/07/2016 09:56	test work	CJM	Awaiting Parts	105.00
17444	Callout	Widman P200	Business Exhibitions Ltd		21/06/2016 13:07	Test Job - Parts added	CIM	Site Attended	50.05
17443	Call out	Widman BT RT 1350E	ABS Garages Ltd		21/06/2016 10:21	Parts demo job	CIM	Site Attended	100.00
17442	Quoted job		Morris Lifts Ltd	1B	20/06/2016 00:00	Interesed in 5 new Doors	CJM	Waiting Acceptance	0.00
17432	Callout	A & D L 100	Compton Packaging	CIM	13/06/2016 10:58	Dummy Part Test	CIM	Waiting Acceptance	0.00
17433	Callout		Compton Packaging	MC	13/06/2016 09:02	Dummy part test	CJM	Waiting Acceptance	0.00
17431	Call out		Bronson Inc	18	10/06/2016 16:57		CIM	Waiting Acceptance	0.00
17425	Call out	A & D L 100	Compton Packaging	IB	10/06/2016 16:45		CJM	Waiting Acceptance	80.00
17430	Call out	Widkman P200	Graham Electronics	IB	10/06/2016 15:40	test	CIM	On Site	1.60
17429	Call out	Widman P200	Compton Packaging	TS	10/06/2016 14:50		CIM	En-Route	0.00

Reset

Then click the **Filter** button. The list automatically limits itself to only O/S jobs for that Engineer:

Job No	Job Type	Make & Model	Site	Current Engineer	Due Date 🗸	To Do	Entered By	Status	Job Total(£)
17489	Prepare for hire	HELI HFD30	Protean Main Office	IB	29/07/2016 17:00	check equipment	CJM	Waiting Acceptance	0.00
17481	Call out		Compton Northern Division	IB	20/07/2016 15:22		CJM	Entry	0.00
17475	Call out		Compton Packaging	IB	07/07/2016 11:44		CJM	Entry	105.00
17473	Call out	Mettler-Toledo FOER 4.1.10	Business Exhibitions Ltd	IB	06/07/2016 16:54	Test	CJM	Unallocated	0.00
17472	Call out	Wickman P200	Business Exhibitions Ltd	IB	06/07/2016 15:13	Fit new tubing etc	CJM	Waiting Acceptance	500.00
17442	Quoted job		Morris Lifts Ltd	IB	20/06/2016 00:00	Interesed in 5 new Doors	CJM	Waiting Acceptance	0.00
17431	Call out		Bronson Inc	IB	10/06/2016 16:57		CJM	Waiting Acceptance	0.00
17425	Call out	A & D L 100	Compton Packaging	IB	10/06/2016 16:45		CJM	Waiting Acceptance	80.00
17430	Call out	Wickman P200	Graham Electronics	IB	10/06/2016 15:40	test	CJM	On Site	1.60
17409	Hire Breakdown	Wickman P200	Graham Electronics	IB	07/06/2016 11:00	Demo Job	CJM	Waiting Acceptance	0.00
16462	Revisit	Wickman P200	Robertson Joinery	IB	19/02/2000 00:00	Service	JPC	Allocated	32.00

Note: Clicking on the

button will then re-display the original list of records again.



Site Filter:

You may be looking at a list of Jobs. By default this will display a list of all outstanding Jobs with the newest Job at the top. If you only wanted to see outstanding Jobs for a particular Site, then you could use the Site filter:



If you know the complete Account Code for the Customer/Site, then enter it into this field and press **Enter**. The system will then display a list of Jobs displaying the account code entered. You can then access the record required, by double clicking on any field displayed.

Note: Clicking on the Reset button will then re-display the original list of records again.

Equipment Filter:

Another useful Filter available in some Global Enquiry screens, is the Equipment Filter:

Equip	•••

If you know the equipment number, you can just enter it in the field and press **Enter**. The screen will then display a list of Jobs that are linked to the equipment number entered:

Site	E	quip 7747				Status From	Entry	🗸 Туре		~
Depot	Nottingham 🤍 Fi	lter				🗸 📖 Status To	Awaiting Detai	ls 🗸	Filter	Reset
Job No 🗵	Job Type	Make & Model	Site	Current Engineer	Due Date	To Do		Entered By	Status	Job Total(£)
17486	Quoted job	Wickman P200	ABS Garages Ltd		20/07/2016 16:54	Needs a new motor		CJM	Entry	780.00
17469	Service	Wickman P200	ABS Garages Ltd	CJM	01/08/2014 09:00	Service		CJM	Parts In	769.61
17463	8 Service	Wickman P200	ABS Garages Ltd	CJM	01/02/2014 09:00	Service		CJM	Waiting Acceptance	416.67

If you don't know the Equipment Number, then you can click on the **button** and use the search screen shown below, to search for the Equipment record required:

Equipment S	iearch - 0 Items									_		•	83
Equip No: Serial No:			Make: Model:	× ×	Customer: Site:		- 9. - 9.	Quick Create	Bull Create				
Cust Equip No: Status: Depot:	Nottingham	>	Category: Type: Sub-Type:	2	Equipment Col Category 2 Notes:		~	Search	Beset				
Equip Ho M	ake	Model	Serial No	Cust Equip No	Status	Second Hand Location	Notes						
)jew											Select	Gancel	

Enter the criteria required and then click on the search button to display the matching records. To select a record, either double click on the record required, or single click on the record to select it and then click on the **Select** button.



Status Filter:

In all Global Enquiry screens, you can use the Status fields to alter the list of items displayed, based on their Status:

Status From	Entry	\sim
Status To	Awaiting Details	\sim

For example:

You may be viewing the Jobs Global Enquiry screen. By default this will display a list of all outstanding Jobs with the newest Job at the top. If you only wanted to see Jobs that had outstanding parts purchase orders on them, you could then change the **Status From** field to **Awaiting Parts**:

Status From	Awaiting Parts	\sim
Status To	Awaiting Parts	\sim

The system will then automatically display all of the Jobs that currently have that particular status:

Site	E	quip				Status From Awaiting Par	s 🗸 Type			~
Depot	Nottingham 🔍 Fi	lter				Status To Awaiting Par	s 🗸	Filter	Reset	
Job No 🗸	Job Type	Make & Model	Site	Current Engineer	Due Date	To Do	Entered By	Status	Job Total(£)	~
17470	Quoted job	Wickman P200	ABS Garages Ltd		05/07/2016 09:56	test work	CJM	Awaiting Parts	105.00	
17395	Quoted job	Wickman P200	Cash Account		10/12/2002 11:39	Repair faulty drive	CJM	Awaiting Parts	856.59	
17390	Service	Wickman P200	Robertson Joinery		01/08/1999 00:00	Service	CJM	Awaiting Parts	93.17	
17389	Service	Wickman P200	ABS Garages Ltd		01/02/1998 00:00	Service	CJM	Awaiting Parts	2.58	
17384	Service	Oxford FD25	ABC Second Depot		08/11/2000 00:00	Service	CJM	Awaiting Parts	179.80	
17377	Call out		S D Enterprises		07/08/2000 15:42	\SDFASF	JPC	Awaiting Parts	356.00	
17373	Revisit	Wickman P200	Compton Northern Division		17/05/2000 00:00	Service	JPC	Awaiting Parts	125.56	
17372	Revisit	Wickman P200	Compton Northern Division		01/05/2000 00:00	Service	JPC	Awaiting Parts	75.08	
17371	Revisit	Wickman P200	Compton Northern Division		01/05/2000 00:00	Service	JPC	Awaiting Parts	44.08	
17370	Service (Custom)	Wickman P200	Compton Northern Division		28/05/2000 00:00	Service	JPC	Awaiting Parts	0.00	

Note: Clicking on the **Reset** button will then re-display the original list of records again.

Type Filter:

In some of the Global Enquiry screens, you can use the **Type** filter to narrow down the list of records displayed, dependent upon their Type. The list of types available, will depend upon which Global Enquiry screen is being accessed and also what has been setup by your Company.

For example:

- 1. In the **Purchase Orders** Global Enquiry screen, you only get the following Types to choose from (This list is "hard coded" into Protean and can't be amended):
- 2. In the **Jobs** Global Enquiry screen, you get a list based on the Job Type Groups setup by your Company and attached to the Job Types that have been setup (This list is setup by your Company and can be amended):

Туре	·
	Parts
	Equipment
	Miscellaneous
	Cross Hire

Гуре	V
	Abuse
	Call Outs
d By	Installations
	Service
	Workshop

Depot Filter:

If your Company has more than one depot, then on the majority of the Global Enquiry screens, this field can be used to narrow down the list displayed as required:

Depot Nottingham 🗸

Author: David Morris Last Edited By: David Morris



~ …

Global Enquiry – User Defined Filters

The user-defined Filter is a tool that is used in association with Global Enquiry. It allows you to search the list of Jobs, Customers, Suppliers, Contacts, Equipment, Jobs, Makes & Models, Tasks, Sales Opportunities and Quotes using specific criteria that you can select.

To setup a User Defined Filter, follow these steps:

- 1. Go to any of the above Global Enquiry screens.
- 2. Use the 🛄 button next to the 'Filter' drop-down list in the top-middle section of the Global Enquiry screen:

Filter

3. The system will then display a screen similar to the one shown below:



- 4. To create a new Query, click the **New** button shown in the bottom left hand corner of the screen (If you have previously saved a Query and you wish to re-use it simply select it from the drop-down list at the top of the screen.)
- 5. Then select what criteria to use in this Query. In the right-hand window you will see a list of all the fields from the screen of the relevant item (e.g. Equipment) plus, for Equipment, Customers & Sales Opportunities this window also contains any Attributes that have been set up.
- 6. That you can select by high lighting the field and then use the 2 arrows to select and un-select as required:

100		
E	1	
	~	
÷		?
		_
10		
٢	1	

7. Then select the Field chosen and then apply the condition required:





For example: You may want to search your Equipment listings, for all Equipment with a Capacity between 1500kgs and 2000kgs. In the Master List on the right-hand side find Capacity in the list (if you have created it as an Attribute). Then use the Modify list to select the 'operator'. In this example it would be 'Between'. Then enter the values in the field alongside, in this case 1500 and 2000:



For example: Select the field called Post Code and then use the Condition "Equal to" and then enter the text "B*", will then find all Customers that have a post code beginning with B:

And 🧹 Equal t	o 🗸 b	* 1	↓ ← →
---------------	-------	-----	-------

Multiple Conditions:

By choosing various fields with various conditions, you can create a defined list of records to be used on a Sales Campaign that needs creating for example.

Example: In this example, a company requires a list of Customers in the Birmingham area, who have a Renewal Date in November 2016. The system has already been setup with a Customer Attribute of "Next Major Renewal". The advanced filter has been setup to create a list of the required customers with a renewal date in a certain date range using the conditions as follows:

- **Post Code 'Equal to' b*:** This will only search for Customer Records who have a post code beginning with B.
- **'Next major Renewal' between 01/11/2016 and 30/11/2016:** This will only search for Customer Records that have had this attribute added with a date in the range entered.

Note: By using the Operator of **AND**, the list will only find Customer Records that satisfy both conditions. The alternative Operator of **OR**, can be used if you want the data to be displayed to satisfy either conditions.

8. To see the results of this Query, click on the Apply button.

Once entered, click on OK.



Enquiry Filter
Enter a new name for the Filter.
Post Codes beginning with B
OK Cancel

- 10. If you choose to save this query you can then set the sharing level in the top right-hand corner of the screen:
 - Not Shared: Means that this filter will only appear for selection when you log in to Protean and no other users.
 - **Read-Only:** Means that all users will be able to use it but that only you can alter or amend it.
 - Full Access: Means that all users can use and amend this filter.



Customer Records

To view a list of Customers in the Protean system, click on the Customer Global Enquiry icon:



The system will then display a screen similar to the one shown below:

💷 Global Enquiry	- Customer	s - 36 records								83
🗋 🔎 👸	🍐 🖺	😂 🔌 🗈 👔	Call 🔀 Map 🗋 Equipment Contact 🗟 Accounts Contact							
Accounting	Customer	Equi	p			Status From Pr	ospect 🗸 T	/pe		~
CRM	Depot	Nottingham 🤍 Filte	r		~	Status To A	ctive 🗸	Filter	Reset	
	Alpha /	Customer Name	Address	Post Code	Phone No	Industry	Sales Rep	Status	Last Contacted	^
0	A0003	ABC Machine Tools Ltd	53, Cotswold Drive,,Coventry,,CV3 6EZ	CV3 6EZ	0141 234 4554		Michael Carrick		26/06/2008	
- <u>(</u>	A00301	ABC Second Depot	Grove Lane, Smethwick, Birmingham, , B66 2SL	B66 2SL	01132 234434	Machine Tools	Chris Morgan	Active	19/06/2016	
	ABS001	ABS Garages Ltd	Victoria Rd East, Holystone Ind Estate, Hebburn, Tyne & Wear, NE31 1VB	NE31 1VB	0191 254 5909			Active	06/07/2016	
Customer	ABS00101	ABS Garages Ltd	Eastbourne Avenue, Dukes Industrial Estate, Whitley Bay, North Tyneside, NE56 4ER	NE56 4ER	0191 232 2345			Active	26/06/2008	
contacts	BRO001	Bronson Inc	18989 Royster Road, Suite 343, Dallas Texas 769544, USA,		001 214 248 8924			Active		
<u></u>	BUS001	Business Exhibitions Ltd	44 Keswick Way, Penrith, Cumbria, CA11 0BW	CA11 0BW	017684 30707	Warehousing	Chris Morgan	Active	19/06/2016	
	BUS00101	Business Exhibitions	89 High Street, Keswick, Cumbria, CA12 5TY	CA12 5TY	01768 67689			Active	26/06/2008	
Customers	CASH001	Cash Account						Active		
	COM001	Compton Packaging	Grange Rd,Bede Industrial Estate, Jarrow, Tyne & Wear, NE32 3AA	NE32 3AA	0191 121 9876		Chris Morgan	Active	19/06/2016	
441	COM00101	Compton Northern Division	Warrengate Rd., South Mimms, Essex, EN6 3QQ	EN6 3QQ	0191 122 8578		Bob Storrie	Active	26/06/2008	
W	COM0011	Compton Southern	Meadow Close, Braintree, Essex, CM7 5AE	CM7 5AE				Active	26/06/2008	
	DEPOT1	Training Depot	1 High Street, Solhull, West Midlands,					Active		
Quotations	FGL001	F G Landscape & Design	189 Sussex Rd,, Norwich, Norfolk, NR32 4HG	NR32 4HG	01603 354564			Active	26/06/2008	
Que to to to	FGL00101	F G Landscape & Design	Unit238, Cleve Avenue, Waverton, Matlock, Derbyshire, DE4 38D	DE4 38D	01629 768 912			Active		

Every global enquiry has common buttons at the top left, which are also available by right clicking the mouse button within the middle of the global enquiry.

🔳 Global Enquiry - Customers - 36 records	
🗋 🔎 🛐 👙 🏪 😂 🧭	💈 🔋 Call 🕵 Map 🛕 Equipment Contact 🛕 Accounts Contact
Customer	Equip

- Create: Used to create a new item.
- View: Drills into the record selected.
- **Pick:** Used when a global enquiry is bought up within another record.
- Print / Export / Send: Used to send the list to Printer / Excel / Email.
- **Reports:** Provides a shortcut to the reports for this module of Protean.
- Refresh: Refrehses the list displayed (Can be set to happen automatically).
- Call: Provides a quick link to be able to call a customer
- **Map:** If a site is using MicroSoft MapPoint, this will then display a screen showing the location of each Job displayed in the Global Enquiry screen and their current status.
- Equipment Contact: Is a quick link to view the details of the Equipment Contact for the record selected.
- Accounts Contact: Is a quick link to view the details of the Accounts Contact for the record selected.

Note: If Protean is linked to accounts software, then you should create any new invoice accounts in your accounts software and use the import facility to bring over the new codes to Protean. This ensures data integrity so that when Protean outputs sales invoices later, your accounts software will accept them.

General Tab:

This screen displays general information for the customer, such as Name, Address, Telephone Number, Email Address, Contract Details etc.

Accounts Tab:

This screen is used to set various settings in connection with Invoicing the customer, such as their Invoice Cycle, which email address to use to email the invoice(s) to, Labour Profiles, making Order Numbers mandatory, Credit Control, displaying balances from the Accounts system etc.

Sales Tab:

This screen will display information mainly used in the CRM Module, such as the Sales Representative, when was the customer last contacted and possibly some information about the Customer.



Attributes Tab:

Customer Attributes allow you to store additional information about a Customer. They are completely user-defined, allowing you to hold as much or as little information as you wish about any customer on Protean. There are various 'Types' of Attribute that essentially govern in what form the information is held. These Types are Numeric, Text, Yes/No, List & Date.

Each Attribute can also be Categorised (again using user-defined Categories), to enable you to control long lists of information.

They are setup by clicking on the **System Tab ¦ CRM ¦ Customer Attributes**:



Other Tab:

This screen can be used to record **Site Notes**, which can be very useful as these can be accessed by the Engineers on the PDA's.

Memo Tab:

This screen can be used to setup Pop Up notes, which will then be displayed on the Protean Office system. If you wish the note to appear every time a user accesses this Customer (or associated record), then put a tick in the **Recur** field next to the appropriate **Document Type**.

General Notes can also be entered here about the Customer, these don't display anywhere else and don't appear on any printed documentation.



Creating a Delivery / Site Account

If a customer has only one site address, then there isn't anything further you need to do, as Protean will use the SAGE Alpha code that we've already imported for you.

However, if a customer has additional Delivery / Site addresses, linked to their main SAGE invoice address, then you need to setup the additional site codes on Protean.

Example:

A Company called ABC Ltd has a Sage Account Code of ABC01 (Invoice Site) and also 3 site addresses, which each have their own Protean Alpha Code. This is made up of the Sage Alpha Code for the Invoice Address, plus an additional 2 digit number at the end:



Creating a Delivery / Site Account:

In order to setup an additional site address for a customer, you will need to follow these steps:

1. Search for the existing Customer Alpha code, by clicking on the Customers Global Enquiry screen:



2. Select the Customer that you wish to add an additional site address to, by double clicking on the existing Alpha Customer record displayed:

	COM001	Compton Packaging	Grange Rd,Bede Industrial Estate, Jarrow, I yne & Wear,NE32 3AA	0191 121 98	0191 121 98		Active	No
h .	COM0011	Compton Southern	Meadow Close,,Braintree,Essex,CM7 5AE				Active	No
	PSP4501	DDG Supplies Ltd	101 Somewhere St,South Milford,Leeds,,LS25 5LF	0122 554 55	0122 554 54	North East	Prospect	No
	FGL001	F G Landscape & Design	189 Sussex Rd, , Norwich , Norfolk , NR 32 4HG	01603 3545	01603 3547		Active	No
ions	FGL00101	F G Landscape & Design	Unit23B, Cleve Avenue, Waverton, Matlock, Derbyshire, DE4 3BD	01629 768 9	01629 823 2		Active	No
20113	GRA001	Graham Electronics	150, Miller St,, Glasgow, Scotland, G1 1EA	0141 373 28	0141 383 27		Active	No
	HAU001	Hausser GMBH	Nordring Str 98,5270 Braunschweig,Germany,,	00 49 531 3	00 49 531 3		Active	No
	IZTNIOO 1	12th and a state that a state of the state	on childred purchased and the time time a week her ADD	0101 070 00	0101 070 00		A	NI-

3. Then click on the button (to the left of the Links button) shown in the bottom left hand corner of the screen:

1 🔸 🖻 🗹 📓 🗋	Links	Modify Alpha	CRM <u>H</u> istory	Create <u>T</u> ask	<u>C</u> lose

4. Select Delivery / Site and click the Next button:

- 5. The Alpha code will automatically be populated, leave this as it is, and click the Next button.
- 6. Enter the Delivery / Site name and address and click the **Finish** button:

7. Then click on the Close button, shown in the bottom right hand corner of the screen:





	What is the name	and address for the new acco	unt?
	Name:	ACME Ltd	
. N 1 A 3	Street 1:	Nottingham Site	
A. 8. 5 V	Street 2:	Robin Hood Lane	
	Town:	Nottingham	
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	County:		
	Country:	United Kingdom	
	Post Code:	NG1 1AN	
			Clear
< <u>B</u> a	ck (Next >	Einish	Cancel

odfy Apha CRM History Crea	No No No te Jask Glose No	
	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	

## **Equipment Records**

The Equipment register enables you to create and maintain a register of Equipment, including: Make & Model; Serial No; Site Location; Category, Type & Sub-Type; unlimited user-defined 'Attributes'; Financial Information; Servicing Details; Warranty details, Job history & other links.

To view a list of Equipment Records in the Protean system, click on the Equipment Global Enquiry icon:

The system will then display a screen similar to the one shown below:

Global Enquir	y - Equipment -	1641 records									
] 🔎 👸	🍓 📇 🕻	🔰 赺 😰 🧆 Hir	e Diary								
Accounting	Site	Equip						Status From	m On Order 🔍 1	ype	
CRM	Depot Not	tingham 🤍 Filter					5	🗸 📖 Status To	Customers Own 🧹	Filter	Reset
Equipment	Equip No /	Site Name	Customer Name	Location	Equipment No	Make	Model	Serial Number	Equipment Category	Equipment Type	Equipment Subtype
	0009	Robertson Joinery	Robertson Joinery			A & D	L45-776	506012	Factory Equipment	Grinding Machine	Non CNC
	0021	Cash Account	Cash Account			Wickman	P200	3463336	Factory Equipment	Milling Machine	CNC
<b>20</b>	0050	Compton Packaging	Compton Packaging			A & D	L100	8766878	Factory Equipment	Milling Machine	Non CNC
99 <b>-</b> 2	0500	Protean Main Office	Protean Main Office			Mettler-Toledo	X500	5476644	Factory Equipment	Grinding Machine	CNC
Engineers	0989	ABC Second Depot	ABC Machine Tools Ltd	Pre production		Wickman	P200	436754765	Factory Equipment	Milling Machine	CNC
	10	Protean Main Office	Protean Main Office			Avensys	Sub Con Cat S		Other	Standard	Standard
100	12	Protean Main Office	Protean Main Office			Avensys	Sub Con Cat S		Other	Standard	Standard
- W	13	Protean Main Office	Protean Main Office			HALLA	HBF15T		ELECTRIC C/B	Standard	Standard
Environment	14	Protean Main Office	Protean Main Office			HELI	HFD30	dgf567567	DIESEL C/B	Standard	Standard
Equipment	15	Protean Main Office	Protean Main Office			CLARK	C500		GAS C/B	Standard	Standard
	16	Protean Main Office	Protean Main Office			MITSUBISHI	FB16KT		ELECTRIC C/B	Standard	Standard
- 71	17	Protean Main Office	Protean Main Office			MITSUBISHI	FB16KT		ELECTRIC C/B	Standard	Standard
÷.,,	18	Protean Main Office	Protean Main Office		dfgdfg	MITSUBISHI	FG18		GAS C/B	Standard	Standard
Equipment	19	F G Landscape & Design	F G Landscape & Design			MITSUBISHI	FG18		GAS C/B	Standard	Standard
Transport	1932	Protean Main Office	Protean Main Office			Wickman	P200	75075821	Factory Equipment	Milling Machine	CNC
	2	ABC Machine Tools Ltd	ABC Machine Tools Ltd			Wickman	BT RT 1350E		Factory Equipment	Milling Machine	Non CNC
	200	Drotean Main Office	Drotean Main Office			Wielsman	0455	209010	Earthry Environant	Million Machina	Non CNC

Every global enquiry has common buttons at the top left, which are also available by right clicking the mouse button within the middle of the global enquiry.



- Create: Used to create a new item.
- View: Drills into the record selected.
- **Pick:** Used when a global enquiry is bought up within another record.
- Print / Export / Send: Used to send the list to Printer / Excel / Email.
- **Reports:** Provides a shortcut to the reports for this module of Protean.
- **Refresh**: Refrehses the list displayed (Can be set to happen automatically).
- **Hire Diary:** If you are using the Hire Module of Protean, by pressing this button, you would then see the Hire Diary and the availability of the equipment records displayed in the Global Enquiry screen.

## **General Tab:**

This screen displays information such as the Equipment Number, Make, Model, Serial Number and Status.

**Note:** Some status options cannot be selected when an item of equipment is first setup. For example, you can't change For Hire to On Hire, or use Reserve or Inspect, as these are system generated through completion of other system procedures.

- Retired: This would be for equipment owned by your Company, which have now been scrapped.
- **Returned:** System generated when equipment has been sent back to supplier (returns note).
- On Order: Is on order with the supplier (purchase order).
- Entry: Initial status when first entered into system i.e. new item of equipment. Can be changed by users to Customers Own, Rental, Stock (only if 'Allow Equipment Status Change to Stock' setting is set to Yes), Cross Hire or Sold.
- Stock: This item has been purchased by your Company, by raising a Purchase Order and booking it in.
- On Sales Order: This item is currently on a Sales Order.







- For Hire: This item is available for Hire. This is done by firstly having the equipment at a Status of Stock and then using the Financial Tab to capitalise the equipment record (More details on how to do this, are contained in the Hire User Guide).
- **Reserve:** Hire equipment that has been entered onto a Hire Contract, but hasn't yet been dispatched to the Customer.
- **On Hire:** The equipment is currently on hire with a customer of yours.
- **Inspect:** The equipment has been collected, but is awaiting inspection before becoming available for re-hire.
- **Cross Hire:** Equipment is not owned, but has been loaned from outside the business to fulfil a customer's requirement (3rd party hire).
- **Sold:** This is a stock item that has been sold.
- Rental: Long term contract hire, customer is purchasing via a finance company (lease, HP).
- **Customers Own:** This equipment is owned by the customer (Also used if an equipment record is sold to a customer, without a warranty).
- **Customers Retired: Equipment** is owned by the customer and is now retired from service.

### Attributes Tab:

Equipment Attributes allow you to store additional information about an item of Equipment. They are completely userdefined, allowing you to hold as much or as little information as you wish about any equipment record on Protean. There are various 'Types' of Attribute that essentially govern in what form the information is held. These Types are Numeric, Text, Yes/No, List & Date.

Each Attribute can also be Categorised (again using user-defined Categories), to enable you to control long lists of information.

## They are setup by clicking on the **System Tab ¦ Equipment ¦ Attributes**:



### For example:

You have an Attribute called "No of Wheels". This would be a Numeric or List Type (depending how many possible values there were). A customer calls and wishes to hire some equipment from you. He does not mind what Make or Model it is but it must have 3 wheels. Using the Advanced Query you could ask Protean to show you any equipment that was available for hire and that had 3 wheels.

- **Printing:** Attributes can be printed on Equipment Despatch Notes, Sales Invoices, Hire Despatch & Collection Notes, and Hire Contracts.
- Searching: Using the Advanced Query option in Global Enquiry you can also search on Attributes.
- **Time Saving:** To save you time in setting up the Attributes for each individual item of equipment the system allows you to set up default Attributes, at the Make & Model level, which can automatically copy down to the Equipment Record screen when you create new equipment.



## Attachments Tab:

This screen can be used to link two, or more items of Equipment together.

**For example:** You may wish to attach a Mast to a Truck, therefore the Truck would exist as an equipment record and so would the Mast. Once Equipment records are attached in this way, then if the primary item is placed on a Sales Order or Hire Contract, for example, its 'attachments' will come with it.

### Financial Tab:

This screen will display various financial fields of information, such as Current Valuation, Depreciation, Insurance Value and Budgeting Information.

### Servicing Tab:

This screen will display a list of all the Service Types that have been setup on your system, which have then been selected for the equipment record.

For each Service Type in the list, you need to check and amend the Interval between services (in months, weeks or meter units depending on the selection made on the Service Type itself) and the Next Due Date (when you want the servicing to begin). Optionally you can also enter a Last Done Date, and a Meter Reading (this is especially important if you are carrying out usage-based servicing).

You can also enter a list, or kit, of Parts used on that services of that type. To do this click the 'Parts' button at the bottom of the Servicing Tab.

If this is used, when service jobs are raised (automatically or manually), the system will create Job Stock Issues for these Parts.

### Other Tab:

This screen will display information depending upon what processes have been used with the equipment record. For example, if the equipment was purchased using a Purchase Order, then details of this transaction would be displayed in here. Additional information can be added, such as Warranty information if required.

### Memo Tab:

This screen can be used to enter, view or amend Pop Up notes, Internal Notes and Customer Web Notes as required.



## The Links Button

On Customer, Supplier & Equipment records, there is an extremely useful option which allows a user to view various different areas of the system whist still in the selected record.

To use the Links button, search for the record required (Customer, Supplier or Equipment):

Accountion	Customer	😂 🥩 🗟 🖠	Call Map 2 Equipment Contact 2 Accounts Contact			Status From 3	rospect	Type [	
CRM	Depot	Nottingham			*	Status To	Active 4	Filter	Reset
na:	Alpha /	Customer Name	Address	Post Code	Phone No	Industry	Sales Rep	Status	Last Contacted
00	A0003	ABC Machine Tools Ltd	53, Cotswold Drive, Coventry, CV3 6EZ	CV3 6EZ	01412344554		Michael Carrio	k Active	26/06/2008
<b>(</b>	A00301	ABC Second Depot	Crove Lane, Smethwick, Brrningham, JB66 25L Victoria Dd East Halvatere Ted Estate Holderer Turce & Wase NE21 11R	000 25L	01132 234434	Machine Tools	Chris Morgan	Active	19/06/2016
Customer	AB500101	ABS Carages Ltd	Earthourse Ausous Dukes Industrial Estate Minifau Bay North Tuneside NESS (ED	NETS 4ED	0101 232 2345			Active	26/06/2010
Contacts	BROOO1	Bronson Inc	18989 Royster Road, Suite 343, Dallas Texas 769544, USA.	TRUCK BAL	001 214 248 8924			Active	entersi soore
9	8US001	Business Exhibitions Ltd	44 Keswick Way, Penrith, Cumbria, CA11 06W	CA11 08W	017684 30707	Warehousing	Ovris Morgan	Active	19/06/2016
1000	BU500101	Business Exhibitions	89 High Street, ,Keswick, Cumbria, CA12 STY	CA12 STY	01768 67689	and the second second second		Active	26/06/2008
Customers	CASH001	Cash Account						Active	
	COM001	Compton Packaging	Grange Rd,Bede Industrial Estate, Jarrow,Tyne & Wear,NE32 3AA	NE32 3AA	0191 121 9875		Chris Morgan	Active	19/06/2016
441	COM00101	Compton Northern Division	Warrengate Rd,, South Mimms, Essex, EN6 3QQ	EN6 3QQ	0191 122 8578		Bob Storrie	Active	26/06/2008
	COM0011	Compton Southern	Meadow Close, Braintree, Essex, CM7 5AE	CM7 5AE				Active	26/06/2008
En inmant	DEPOT1	Training Depot	1 High Street, Solhull, West Midlands,					Active	
Duotations	FGL001	F G Landscape & Design	189 Sussex Rd., Norwich, Norfolk, NR 32 +KG	NR32 #HG	01603 354564			Active	26/06/2008
4	FGL00101	F G Landscape & Design	Unit238, Cleve Avenue, Waverton, Matlock, Derbyshire, DE4 3BD	DE4 3BD	01629 768 912			Active	
100	GRA001	Graham Electronics	150, Miller St., Glasgow, Scotland, G1 1EA	G1 1EA	0141 373 2828			Active	16/06/2016
	HAL1001	Hausser GMRH	Nordring Str 98,5270 Braugetwein Germany		00 49 531 34433			Active	

### Select the record required:

Seneral	Accounts	Sales	Attributes	Other	Memo			
				Stand	ard Detai	s		
Alpha:		BUSO	1				Status: Act	ive 🗸
Name:		Busine	ss Exhibitions	Ltd				
Street 1:		44 Ke	swick Way					
Street 2:								
Town/Cit	r.	Penrit	h					
County:		Cumb	ria					
Country:						$\sim$		
Post Code	8	CA11	08W	2				
Phone:		01768	14 30707			Ŷ		
Fax:		01768	14 30708					
Email:								
Website:		www.	be.co.uk					
Equipmen	t Contact:	Greg I	.ake	~	9			
Accounts	Contact:			~	9			
Region:		North	East			$\sim$		
Industry:		Ware	nousing			$\sim$		
				Associat	ed Addres	ises		
Invoice A	ccount:	BUSO		Q.	Business E	chibitions Ltd		
Site Rout	e:	North				$\sim$	C	onvert to Site
Area Ref:		North						
Depot:		Nottin	gham	~	Exte	nal Site Ref:		

Links

Click on the

button shown at the bottom of the screen.

Depending on which record you've selected, the system will then display a menu similar to the one shown:

By clicking on each option, a user can view details of other areas of the system where the record is used.



### Adding Files to Customer Records:

Clicking the **Links** button on either the Customer Screen and then selecting the '**Files**' option, will display either a document for the Customer or a browse window showing the contents of a folder with the same folder name of the customer:

You can store any number of different files, of any type, with any names. Simply save them all into a folder called, for example, BUS001 (this being the Customer Alpha Code number) and ensure this folder is located in the same location as entered in **System ¦ General ¦ Settings ¦ Files Directory - Customer**.





### Equipment Records:

This can also be done for Equipment records. For these types of Files, they would firstly need to be saved into a folder called, for example, 100092 (this being the Equipment Number) and ensure this folder is located in the same location as entered in **System ¦ General ¦ Settings ¦ File Directory – Equipment.** 

### **Supplier Records:**

This can also be done for Supplier records. For these types of Files, they would firstly need to be saved into a folder called, for example, MUL001 (this being the Supplier Alpha Code Number) and ensure this folder is located in the same location as entered in **System ¦ General ¦ Settings ¦ File Directory – Supplier**.

### Part Stock Records:

This can also be done for Part Stock records. For these types of Files, they would firstly need to be saved into a folder called, for example, ADF/456444 (this being the Part Stock Record Number) and ensure this folder is located in the same location as entered in **System ¦ General ¦ Settings ¦ File Directory – Parts.** 



## Searching for an existing Stock Record

There is no Global Enquiry screen for stock, instead there is a Find Part screen, which allows a user to enter some search criteria and then search for the part record required.

To access this screen, click on the Stock Icon shown at the top of the Home Tab:



### The system will then display the Find Part screen:

arch Criteria							
tNo: J		Stock Type:	Stock Type 1		~		
scription:			Stock Type 2		~		
anufacturer:		Part No:	Reference 3				
onler:	-	Dect Nex	Obsolutes	- No		Search	Reset
spie.		Parcias	cosoete.	140 10			

- 1. Enter the required text into the search fields (using a combination of fields if required) and click Search.
  - a. **Part No:** Search part of, or all of, a part number.
  - b. Stock Type: Search the stock type (user-defined designation used for reporting/enquiries/tax status).
  - c. **Description:** Search part of, or all of, part description.
  - d. References 1, 2 & 3: User-defined reference fields.
  - e. **Manufacturer/Supplier part number:** Use if the Manufacturer or Supplier have their own part number that isn't used internally by the client.
  - f. **Obsolete:** Search for active/obsolete stock. Can choose blank option for 'all'.
- 2. Double-click on the required Stock record:

11						11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Part No	55	Description	Manufacturer's Part No	Supplier's Part No	Free Stock	Net Stock	1
0.060.00	N	Battery Hydrometer		HG097970	1	1	
0.236.00	N	Fuse Carrier 6 Way		564-11	0	0	
0.335.56	N	Solinoid		76-4343	0	0	
0.377.00	N	Fuse Holder		DFD678	0	0	
0.377.80	N	Fuse		0.377.80	0	0	
0.450126.009	N	Fuel Primer (5006 Filter Fits)	0.450126.009	0.450126.009	0	0	
0.727.40	N	Pre Heat Relay		9797-08	1	1	
0 72740	N	Delay		0 72740	0	0	

3. After selecting the part record, the system will then display the Stock Enquiry screen:





## General Tab

Main section:

- **Part No** must be unique. Can include letters, numbers, spaces, special characters. Limited to 50 characters.
- **Description** can be up to 255 characters in length.
- Stock type is a user-definable field, and is used to sub-categorise parts and for VAT

Part No:	0092250810	Obsolete:	
Description:	Ring-Snap		
Stock Type:	Nissan		
Stock Units:	each 💌		
Serial No's:			
Service Exchange:	Allowance: £0.00		
Kit:	Build		

rate. Examples here are Parts, Filters, Tyre's etc. (Used in the Stock Take and Price Uplift routines and can also be used on Job Types to control chargeability levels).

- **Stock units** are the default unit when stocking/selling/issuing the part (e.g. each, cm, litre), these are customisable.
- Serial No's is ticked if serial numbers are required when booking in or selling this part (often for more expensive items that need to be tracked) can only be activated when out of stock with no prior transaction history (i.e. when part is first created).
- Service Exchange is used to define the value of the rebate that may be received by the customer in exchange for a worn part. This value will be deducted from the sell price of the part, rather than 'added on' to it.
- **Kit** will indicate that the part is a kit, built up of other part numbers as defined in the 'Build...' menu.
- **Obsolete** will prevent part from being purchased/ordered. (If the part has any equivalences, marking it as obsolete, will use them to replace the old part in any existing kit builds. Also, if this part has been superceded, will be marked as Obsolete).

## **Categories Section:**

- **Price Cat** is user-definable and is used as a figure on which to base discounts on sales orders, price lists and stock re pricing process (Category has an uplift % to be used for products of this category).
- **Purchase Disc Cat** is user-definable, and is entered against a supplier record to define the discount received from Suppliers RRP on certain part types (Stock/VOR).
- Sales Disc Cat is an older version of Price Cat. Not generally used for newer clients.
- Holding Cat is related to the ordering of parts, and is user-definable. Primarily, the Stock Holding Category allows you to specify how many days' worth of stock you wish to hold for any given Part or group of Parts. It is

Categories								
Price Cat:	B							
Purchase Disc Cat:	A2 💌							
Sales Disc Cat:	•							
Holding Cat:	Fast-Moving							



used in the Stock Reordering system as part of the calculation when determining how many of each item to order from you Suppliers.

May be based on movement, value etc. to define the number of days' of parts to hold in stock (Better than Min/Max levels on Parts themselves).

### **Notes Section:**

• Used for internal reference purposes. Could be put onto reports if requested.



### **References Section:**

 User-defined references (System | General | More | User References | Stock), can print on documentation or be used for enquiries/reports.



### Stock section:

Add:	$\sim$			Ç	uantity			Store: Co	ventry Store	$\sim$
State	Bin	Selling Price	In Stk	Alloc Fre	e PO	50	Net	Avg Value	Value	
New		£0.80	554	0 55	+ 0	0	554	£0.	76 £4	21.04
Droforrod Cupplian	A00025	Q. Abbey Hyd	raulics I td		Supplier	Part No:	000012	56	-listory 5	erial No's
Preferred Supplier:										

- Add: Used to add a new State level.
- Store: Used to select the store for which you want to see stock details.
- **State:** Used to add multiple instances of the same part number that differ depending on the state of the part (i.e. new/used/reconditioned/quarantined).

**Note:** The Stock States refer to the condition of the Stock Part. There are four 'States' available in Protean:

New:	The most prevalent 'State'. Items bought in new from a Supplier.
Refurb:	Items which have been reconditioned.
Used:	Second-Hand Items.
Quant:	Service Exchange Items.

Each Part No on Protean can exist in any or all of the four Stock States. This allows you to hold a stock of, for example, 35 new items and 10 Used under the same Part Number. The different Stock States are shown as distinct lines on the Stock Enquiry screen and elsewhere in the system by a letter code after the Part No.

(The Stock State designation appears on all Stock Reports and all Order Processing screens).

- **Bin location** can be entered per Store/State combination (Shown on Picking & Dispatch Notes and used in Stock Take routine).
- Selling Price is the default sales unit price normally charged for this part (Defaults onto Sales Orders and Jobs).



## • Quantities:

In Stock:	Shows the amount of stock that should be within stores currently, including allocated (Use Stock Adjustment routine to enter initial stock quantity when setting up new part).
Allocated:	Will show how many are reserved.
Free:	Will show how many are currently physically available for issue.
PO:	Will show how many are on an active purchase order.
SO:	Will show how many are placed on a job, but are yet to be allocated. This status is seldom-used.
Net:	Will show how many are potentially available (In Stk + PO - Alloc - SO).
Average value:	Is the average cost price of the part (excluding parts purchase ordered for a specific job).
Value:	Is the total in stock value for the store/state.

The ... button takes the user to the Stock Enquiry Details screen. This shows how much you have of that part number in that stock state across all stores.

📧 Stock Enquiry Details	- 00001256 Bolt										- 23
Part No	State		De	scription			Stock T	уре	Sales V	Varranty	Hire Rate
00001256	New	Bolt					Consumables		1	Months	£0.00 ···
Stores Suppliers											
Store	Bin Locati	on 🛛 In Stk	Alloc	Free	PO	50	Net	Val	ue	Min	Max
Coventry Store		554	0	554	0	0	554		£421.04	0	0
N566 ATO		30	0	30	0	0	30		£22.80	0	0

- **Preferred Supplier** is where the default supplier account for this part record is added. Each time this part is booked in, the supplier code will default to the entry within here.
- **Supplier Part No, Supplier RRP, Net Buying Price and Units** is where the supplier-specific part information can be keyed for the default supplier.
- **History** shows details of the transaction history for the part.
- Serial No's will display the serial numbers of the available parts.
- Net Buying Price will display when raising a P/O.
- **Units** will display when raising a P/O. (Example: Net buying Price: £50, Units: Packs of 10 would mean that the total value on the P/O for 1 pack would be £500).

## Other Tab:

- **Equivalences** allow alternative (equivalent) part numbers to be assigned. If the part is out of stock, the system will notify the user if equivalencies exist (Use the + icon to add).
- It is possible to supercede to an equivalent part, by using the **Set Supercede** button (Must have added Equivalence first).
- The **Replace On Equip Svc Kits** button, can be used to update parts attached to equipment to the updated part number.



		Equivalences		
Part No	Manufacturer	Manufacturer Part No	Superceded By	Obsolete
4854644K01				
4854651K00				
4854651K00A				
🔁 🔍 Set Supercede	Clear Supercede Replace On Equip	Svc Kits		×

 Manufacturer Part No allows the manufacturer's own part number to be defined (Set up in System > Stock > Manufacturers).

	Manufacturer							
Manufacturer:	FTP 🔽 Fork Truck Parts							
Part No:	1-RS4N							

• **Make/Model** is used to define what equipment type is used if the selected part is ever converted into an item of equipment.

	Make/Model
Make/Model:	···· Q Clear

### **Buttons:**

Along the bottom of the screen, are a number of icons and buttons as follows:

- Up and Down arrows are used to skip through the 'search results' (i.e. that are in Find Part screen).
- **Messaging icon** is used for messaging internally, or for email (Outlook).
- **Reports icon** is used to access stock reports.
- **Create New** will create a new part.
- Modify Part No will allow the displayed part number to be amended.
- **Supercede** will allow a supersession to be created. This will mark the displayed part as obsolete.
- Labels will allow a label to be printed for the displayed part. This function is more commonly used when booking in parts.
- **Documents** will allow images and documents to be attached to the part. Files should be held on server. Files should be held in \Stock\XXXXX where XXXXX is the stock number. XXXXX can be a directory containing multiple files, or an individual filename (including file extension).



## **Creating Stock Records**

To create a new Stock record, click on the drop down arrow below the **Stock Icon** and select **Create Stock Record**:



The system will then display a blank Stock Enquiry screen as shown below:

Stock Enquiry - «	New>						
General Other							
		Main				Categories	
Part No:	[	•••		Obsolete:	Price Cat:	Normal Margin	~
Description:					Purchase Disc Cat:		~
Stock Type:	Consumables	$\sim$			Sales Disc Cat:	Consumables	~
Stock Units:	each	$\sim$			Holding Cat:	Consumables	~
Serial No's:							
Service Exchange:	Allowance: £0	.00					
Kit:	Baid						
		Notes				Reference	
					Stock Type 1:		~
					Stock Type 2:		~
					Reference 3:		
Add:	$\sim$		Qua	ntity	Store:	Coventry Store	~
State	Bin Sel	ling Price In Stk	Alloc Free	PO 50	Net Avg Val	lue Value	
_							
Preferred Suppl	ier: Q	•		Supplier Part No:		History 5	erial No's
Supplier RRP:	£	Supplier Discount %		Net Buying Price:	U	nits:	~
		Modify Part No	Supercede	Labels	Documents		Close
		Loany Parcino	Tobelege	200013	Decomenta		2.030

**Note:** There are 3 mandatory fields when creating new stock records, which are Part Number, Description and Stock Type. However, using the information found earlier in this guide, complete as much information as required.

**Note:** In order to get a stock balance onto the stock record, this can be done by either creating a Stock Adjustment or a quantity will be added, once a Purchase Order has been created and then booked in for the stock record concerned.



## **Searching for an existing Maintenance Contract**



To view a list of current Maintenance Contracts, click on the Maintenance Global Enquiry icon Maintenance

The system will then display a screen similar to the one shown below:

📑 Global Enquiry	/ - Maintenance Contracts - 18 records										- E
📄 🔎 👌	🎍 🖺 😂 浚 🖻										
Accounting	Customer Equip					St	atus From Entry	🗸 Тур	pe		_
CRM	Depot Nottingham V Filter					🗸 St	atus To Active Invo	ice 🗸	Filter	Re	set
Equipment	Contract No Type	Customer Name	Post Cod /	Start Date	End Date	Reference	Status				
	1009 Fully comprehensive	Smith & Co	B90 4FG								
	1010 Fully comprehensive	Morris Lifts Ltd	B90 4TT	20/06/2016			Entry				
	1011 Labour indusive	Morris Lifts Ltd	B90 4TT	20/06/2016			Quoted				
~~~	1012 Labour indusive	Jones & Sons Ltd	B90 4TY	20/06/2016			Quoted				
Engineers	1016 Daves Contract	Lease Company	CV1 3DF	28/06/2016	27/06/2017		Active				
	1017 Daves Contract	Lease Company	CV1 3DF	28/06/2016	27/06/2017		Active				
dist.	999 Fully chargeable	ABC Machine Tools Ltd	CV3 6EZ	23/02/2000		HG8787	Active				
- 1	1005 Fully chargeable	ABC Machine Tools Ltd	CV3 6EZ	07/09/2000		122/KJ	Active				
Contract to	1006 Fully chargeable	ABC Machine Tools Ltd	CV3 6EZ	06/11/2000		423423	Active				
Equipment	1013 Daves Contract	ABC Machine Tools Ltd	CV3 6EZ	01/07/2016	30/06/2017	PO 726347	Entry				
	1014 Daves Contract	ABC Machine Tools Ltd	CV3 6EZ	01/07/2017	30/06/2018		Active				
2 1	1008 Fully chargeable	ARS Garages Ltd	NE31 1VR	01/10/2013			Active				

To then view the details of the existing Maintenance Contract, double click on the record and the system will display a screen similar to the one shown below:

🗐 Maintenance Contract - 998					×
Customer	Dates			Contract	
COM001 Q Star	t: 23/02/2000 🔳	Entered By:	Jermain Defoe	Contract No:	998
Compton Packaging End:		Sales Rep:		Type:	Fully chargeable 🔍 🔍
Grange Rd Rene	ewal:	Analysis 1:		Cust Ref:	HG3546
Jarrow	Labour Profile	Reference 2:		Depot:	Nottingham
Tyne & Wear NE32 344 Profi	le: Regular charge prof	Reference 3:		Status:	Active
INC32 DAA					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Contract Equipment					
Show All Equipment	~				
Equip Make / Model	Site	Location Start Dat	e End Date Inv	From Sync Date	Rsp Hrs Monthly Fee S
▶ 765767 Wickman/P200	Compton Packaging	06/01/2003	E 06/07/	/2015 📰 🛛	£200.00 🗹
95091 Wickman/P200	Compton Northern Division	23/02/2000	31/12/2002 30/11/	/2004 🔳 🛛 🖪	1 £300.00 🗹
*					
7(17(7			a 111 -		
··· 🔍 🗙		servicing	Charge History		10tai: ±500.00
1 V S S S Create C	Copy Ca <u>n</u> cel	Print Contract	<u>A</u> gree	Immediate Invoice	<u>T</u> erminate <u>C</u> lose

This screen does have two Tabs, which will display various fields of information regarding the Maintenance Contract selected:

NE32 3AA					
Contract	Equipment				
Show	All Equipment				



Searching for an existing Job



To view a list of Jobs, click on the Jobs Global Enquiry icon Jobs

The system will then display a screen similar to the one shown below:

ľ	📧 Global Enquiry	- Jobs - 515	records									- 2	3
	🗋 🔎 🚺	۵	🖄 赺 🗈 🕵	Site Attended	d 🔀 Map								
Ш	Accounting	Site	Equip							Status From Entry Type			
	CRM	Depot [Nottingham 💽 Filter							Status To Awaiting Details 💌	Filter Res	et	
Ш	Equipment	Job No 🗸	Job Type	Site	Make & Model	Curre	Area	Due Date	To Do	Status			
Ш		17507	7 Call out	Mrs June Smith	Potterton 24DBC			04/12/2015 14:27	Sort out new boiler				
Ш	0.0	17505	5 Call out	Compton Packaging	Potterton 30 EPC 6	CJM	North	04/12/2015 12:03	wegherghrt4hytr4	Waiting Acceptance	4		
Ш		17501	1 Call out	Bronson Inc		MC	Texas	27/11/2015 14:01	Fix the lift	Waiting Acceptance	<u>a</u>		
Ш	የምም29	17500) Call out	ABC Second Depot	Vaillant E50	STO	Midlar	27/11/2015 13:56	Fix stuff	Waiting Acceptance	<u>a</u>		
Ш	Engineers	17499	9 Call out	Bronson Inc			Texas	27/11/2015 09:12	Test Job with Misc Iten	Awaiting Complete			
Ш		17498	8 warranty service	ABS Garages Ltd		MC	North	24/11/2015 12:24		Waiting Acceptance	<u>a</u>		
Ш	dian.	17497	7 Call out	ABS Garages Ltd			North	19/11/2015 09:55	Fix equipment	Awaiting Parts	<u>a</u>		
Ш	- W	17496	5 Call out	Kingston Water Authority	Vaillant H70		North	19/11/2015 09:28	werwerwer	Site Attended			
Ш	Carlemant	17495	5 Call out	Kingston Water Authority			North	19/11/2015 14:22	Repair equipment as re	Awaiting Complete	<u>a</u>		
Ш	Equipment	17494	4 Call out	ABS Garages Ltd			North	19/11/2015 14:01	sdfgsadfsdf	Awaiting Parts			
Ш		17492	2 Call out	F G Landscape & Design		CJM	East	19/11/2015 09:25	test	Waiting Acceptance			
Ш	71	17491	1 Call out	ABS Garages Ltd			North	19/11/2015 09:20	test	Site Attended	<u>a</u>		
Ш	₩ 5%	17490) Call out	Business Exhibitions Ltd			North	18/11/2015 13:32	qwerqwerwqer	Awaiting Complete			
П	Equipment	17489	Annual check inc CP12	ABS Garages Ltd		JPC	North	19/06/2014 09:00	Service	Waiting Acceptance			
	Transport	17488	8 Routine inspection	ABS Garages Ltd		CJM	North	19/12/2013 09:00	Service	Waiting Acceptance			

Every global enquiry has common buttons at the top left, which are also available by right clicking on within the middle of the global enquiry.

Ξ	😑 Global Enquiry - Jobs - 543 records									
] 🔎	0				\geq	2	🙀 Site Attended	🧐 Plannerboard	式 Map
	Accountin		Site					Equip		

- Create: Used to create a new Job.
- View: Drills into the record selected.
- **Pick:** Used when a global enquiry is bought up within another record.
- Print / Export / Send: Used to send the list to Printer / Excel / Email.
- **Reports:** Provides a shortcut to the reports for this module of Protean.
- **Refresh**: Refrehses the list displayed (Can be set to happen automatically).
- Site Attended: This allows a user to quickly update all of the visits on a Job, without the need to access each one individually. Once a job is selected, any visits on it that have a status of "Allocated", will be updated to a status of "Visited". This process will also update the overall status of the Job "Site Attended".
- Plannerboard: Provides a shortcut to the Plannerboard screen.
- **Map:** If a site is using MicroSoft MapPoint, this will then display a screen showing the location of each Job displayed in the Global Enquiry screen and their current status.



Accessing a Job:

To access a Job already created, simply double click on the Job required and the system will then display a screen which looks similar to the one shown below:





Other Common Features:



These (...) buttons will open up a Search screen.



A Magnifying Glass will Drill into a record and move you to that record in Protean.

Other Buttons:

Along the bottom of the screen are a number of buttons, which are as follows:

Create Copy	Allows a user to create a copy of the job they're currently accessing. This is particulary useful when dealing with credit notes.
Ca <u>n</u> cel	Depending upon the status of the Job, this allows a user to cancel it. A canellation date and reason must be selected.
Place	Allows a user to alter the status of a Job from Entry to Unallocated.
Add Visit	Allows a user to add further Visits in the Labour Tab.
<u>W</u> aiting	Allows a user to alter the Status of the Job to Awaiting Parts. This happens automatically if a Purchase Order is creating from within the Job itself.
Complete	Once all entries have been made on the Job, a user must then click on this button before being able to invoice it. The system will then validate the Job to check everything is in order.
Invoice	After the Complete button has been clicked and possibly Authorised (Depending on the System Settings), this is used to then either view a Preview Invoice or generate the Full Invoice with a Tax Point date as required.
Close	This button is used to close the Job screen down and will save any additions or changes made.



Creating Jobs

• To create a New Job, click Jobs and then Create Job:



- Depending on how Protean is configured, you will be presented with a Customer Search form, an Equipment Search form or the Job form.
- In the Customer Search form, enter the required search criteria and click the Search button. Then double-click on the relevant item in the results list, to add the customer to the job.

E Customer	Search	c	Ξ Σ3
-Search Criteria	a		
Alpha:			
Name:			
Address:		Active Prospect Closed Search Recet	
Telephone:			
Alpha	Name	Address	
ACT001	Activis	Activis,,,,	
AD1001	AD1- Daryl Industries Ltd	Alfred Road,,,Wirral,,CH44 7HY	
ADD002	Addenbrookes Hospital	Finance Department Box 130, Cambridge Univ Hosp NHS Found Addenbrookes NHS Trust, Hills Road, Cambridge, CB2 2QQ	
ADV001	Advanced Filtration Systems Ltd	Carrington Business Park,, Carrington, Manchester, M31 4DD	

Note: It is possible to create and complete a Job without an equipment record being entered. However, if the Job is an invoicing Job, then a customer is required before completion.

• If you wish to select a piece of Equipment, click the ... button to the right of the Equipment field in the top left hand corner of the screen, to access the Equipment Search form:



• In the Equipment Search form, enter the required search criteria and click the Search button, double-click on the relevant item in the results list to add the equipment to the job.

💼 Equipment Se	earch				c	- 23
Search Criteria -					1	
Equip No:		Make:	Customer:	 Ouick Create Full Create		
Serial No:		Model:	Site:			
Cust Equip No:		Category:	EWS Status			
Status:	•	Type:	Reference 2	Search Reset		
Depot:	-	Sub-Type:	Notes:			



Note: If the piece of equipment isn't displayed, then you can click on the **Full Create** button to create the equipment record if required. Once you have selected a Site and Customer and optionally an Equipment record, a Job No will then be allocated.

Job Section

						53
Site	Customer		Ja	b		
LEI00101 Q	LEI001 🔍	Contact Name:	John Smith 🔍 🗣	No:	917	
Leicester General Hospital	Leicester General Hospital	Contact Phone:	Ø	Type:	Callout	
Theatre 3	Payments Section University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Tru	Contact Email:			Chargeable	_
	Leicester Royal Infirmary	Order No:		Priority:	Low 👻	
	PO Box 189 Leicester	Authority:		Status:	Unallocated	
Mise Invoicing Summany						

• **Contact Name:** Defaults from the Equipment record. User can enter a Contact Name or select an existing Contact from the drop-down list. If you enter a contact you will be prompted with the option to add the contact.

Note: If you select "No" on this prompt, the job record will hold the contact details but the contact will not be linked to the Site record. If you select "Yes" on this prompt you will then be presented with the Contact form. On this form you can add additional information such as Job Title, telephone number and email address etc).

- **Contact Phone:** Defaults from Equipment record, can be amended if required.
- **Contact Email:** Defaults from Equipment record, can be amended if required.
- **Order No:** Enter an Order Number if required. Depending on the settings on the Customer Record, the system may remind you that an order number is required.
- **Authority:** Enter the name of an additional contact in the Authority field, if applicable.
- **Type:** The system will automatically put your default Job Type in for you. If it is different, select an alternative Job Type from the drop down list.
- Chargeable / Non Chargeable: Pre-determined by the Job Type selected in the previous field.
- **Priority:** Amend the priority of the Job if required (Low Green, Medium Amber, High Red). This can be seen in the Jobs Global Enquiry screen.
- Status: Displays the current status of the Job, defaults to "Unallocated".

<u>Main Tab</u>

• Enter the details reported by the customer into the "To Do" field.



• Any details you type here will print on the Job Sheet/Work Sheet for the engineer.



Reference Section

- **Depot:** Defaults to the Depot attached to the user who is raising the Job. Can be amended if required.
- Entered by: Defaults to the name of the user who raised the Job. Can't be amended.
- Logged: Displays the date and time the job was first created/logged.
- Due: Displays the date and time the job should be attended, job type category needs to be 'call-out' (An exception would be when the 'Update Service Jobs' process is run). Default response time can be set in System > General-Settings > Default response time or in a maintenance contract. Can also be entered manually if required.
- Instructed: Displays the Date and time the job is allocated to an engineer.
- **Complete:** Displays the date and time the job is completed.
- Invoiced: Displays the date on which the Job was invoiced.
- Invoice No: Displays the invoice number, click on the magnifying glass icon to view the invoice itself.
- **Completed By:** Displays the name of the user who completed the Job.
- Sales Rep: Defaults in, can't be amended here.
- **Reference 1:** Additional user defined field for the recording of additional information as required.
- **Reference 2:** Additional user defined field for the recording of additional information as required.
- Inspection: An inspection sheet can be 'attached' to a job, shows the inspection no. in the first field, '•••' goes to sheet details.
- **Transport:** If 'yes', '•••' displays the global enquiry screen for Equipment Transport, for that customer.
- **Collect:** This raises a request for transport from the customer site to the workshop.
- **Deliver:** This raises a request for transport to the workshop to the customer site.
- Attachments: Allows a user to attach any documents for the Job, which can be viewed on the Engineers PDA's.
- **Credited:** If a credit note has been raised against the Invoiced Job, then this field will say "Yes" and the credit note can be viewed by clicking on the magnifying glass icon.

Internal Notes Section

Notes can be entered into this section, which just display on screen and don't print off on any documentation.





Job Classification Section

Faults, Causes and Actions, are user definable and are useful when reporting on reason for call-outs/breakdowns as they help keep the information entered consistent (They are setup in System > Job > Faults, Causes & Actions).

	Job Classification
Fault:	•
Cause:	•
Action:	•

- Faults: Use the drop down icon to select if required. Text will appear in the 'To Do' field, if blank and text details have been set up against a fault.
- Cause: Use the drop down icon to select if required.
- Actions: Use the drop down icon to select if required.

Equipment Service Section

Equipment Service									
Contract:	1010	S Fully chargeable							
Next Service:	19-Dec-15	Routine inspection							
Last Service:	17-Dec-15	Routine inspection							

- **Contract:** If the equipment is on a maintenance contract, the number of the contract will show here, the magnifying glass icon will display that contract details.
- **Next service:** Date per service schedule on equipment.
- Last service: Date the last service was completed.

Cancellation Section

	Cancellation
Date:	[m]
Reason:	
By:	•

If the Job has been cancelled, this section will display the following details:

- **Date:** The date on which the Job was cancelled.
- **Reason:** The reason selected when the Job was cancelled.
- **By:** Will display the name of the User who cancelled the Job.



Allocating an Engineer using the Planner Board

 The Planner Board form allows you to plan Engineer visits, move allocations and add unavailable time and is accessible from where ever you see the Planner board icon:



- The top half of the Planner board will display a list of Engineers together with details of Jobs Completed, Due, and Overdue. For Each Job the Planner board will display The Customer, Job Type, Status and Time Due. The board will display other time for Engineers such as Holidays & Sicknesses.
- The bottom section of the Planner board will display a list of outstanding jobs, similar to the main Jobs Global Enquiry screen.

Allocating an Engineer

- 1. Locate the Job from the list of outstanding jobs in the bottom half of the Planner board.
- 2. Drag and Drop the Job against the engineer. You will then be prompted to "Add Visit" where you can enter the proposed arrival time, then click ok. If the Arrival Time not known, simply accept the defaults and click ok. The time can be amended later on the job record.

🖽 Add Visit		? 🛛
Job No:	200174	
Visit Date:	11/10/2007 🛅	O Scheduled
Arrival Time:	05:00 🕒	Response Time
Duration:	02:00 🕒	O Arranged
Cancel		ок

Note: To go to the Job Record, Right Click on the Job in the Planner board & select View Job.

Job Colour Codes:

Red:	Job Is Overdue.
Grey:	Job has been completed.
Yellow:	Job Due in less than 1 Hour (This time Due Setting can be amended in Settings).
Green:	Future Jobs whereby "due Time" can still be met.
Blue:	Engineer Unavailable (You can choose from 4 set reasons, Holiday, illness, Training & Other).



What are the different Job Status?

Status Name	Meaning
Entry:	The Job is being created but not yet saved.
Credit Hold:	The Customer is 'on-stop' and so the Job cannot be processed. The 'on-stop' facility is controlled by the Accounts Dept.
Order No Req:	This Customer has been flagged as requiring an order number for a Job but as yet this has not been entered on the Job.
Estimated:	An estimate has been printed for this Job.
Quoted:	A quote has been printed for this Job.
Unallocated:	The Job record has been saved but no engineer is yet allocated.
Allocated:	An engineer has been allocated to the Job.
Awaiting Parts:	There is a Stock Issue or Purchase Order (Parts or Misc) outstanding against the Job, or the 'Waiting' button has been pressed.
Parts In:	The parts that were ordered/requested have been booked in/issued.
Waiting Acceptance:	Primarily a PDA function. The Job details have been sent to an Engineer and we are awaiting a response to say he is attending.
En-Route:	Primarily a PDA function. The Engineer is currently travelling to site.
On Site:	Primarily a PDA function. The Engineer has arrived on site.
Site Attended:	The engineer has visited the site and the Job is now awaiting completion.
Further Work Req:	A PDA function. Further work has been identified by the Engineer on site and details have been entered via the PDA.
Awaiting Complete:	A PDA function. The Engineer has flagged his Job as complete on the PDA and it is now only awaiting confirmation by the Job Controller(s) at the office.
Awaiting Details:	The Job needs some further information before it can be completed.
Authorise Req:	The Complete button has been pressed once and you have chosen the option to have an authorisation stage in the completion process. It is awaiting another press of the 'complete' button by an authorised user.
Completed:	The Job is completed. If it is chargeable it can now be invoiced.
Invoiced:	The Job has been completed and invoiced
Batch Updated:	This Job has been updated to the accounts software.
Cancelled:	This Job has been cancelled.



The Hire Cycle

Below is a diagram which is intended to show the complete Hire process:



Protean Software

Searching for an existing Hire Contract



To view a list of current Hire Contracts, click on the Hire Global Enquiry icon Hire

The system will then display a screen similar to the one shown below:

📑 Global Enquiry	- Hire Con	tracts - 30 reco	rds												-	23
🗋 🔎 👸		3 😂 🏠	2													
Accounting	Customer		Equip							Status From	Entry	~	, Type			\sim
CRM	Depot	Nottingham	Filter						\sim	Status To	Invoice M	arked 🔍	,	Filter	Reset	
Equipment	Hire O	ontract No 🔻 🛛	ype		Site	Start Date	End Date	Customer Ref		Status						^
		947 S				19/07/2016					h					
		946 S	ub Contractor		ABC Second Depot					Entry						
		945 S	ub Contractor		ABC Second Depot					Entry						
ማዋ።		944 S	ub Contractor		ABC Second Depot					Entry						
Engineers		943 S	ub Contractor		Protean Main Office	18/07/2016	18/07/2017			Awaiting Despate	h 📕					
		942 S	ub Contractor		Protean Main Office	18/07/2016		test1		Awaiting Despate	h 📕					
Abel		941 M	fonthly in advance	e	Protean Main Office					Entry						
											_					

To then view the details of the existing Hire Contract, double click on the record and the system will display a screen similar to the one shown below:

Hire Contract - 937							-	53			
Site	Custom	ier		Dates		Contrac	:t				
A00301 ··· 🔍	A0003	🔍	Start:	12/12/2002	Contract No:	937					
ABC Second Depot	ABC Machine Tools Ltd		End:		Type:	Monthly in advar	nce	\sim			
Smethwick	53, Cotswold Drive		Renewal:	E.	Customer Ref:	44					
Birmingham	Coventry				Depot:	Nottingham		\sim			
866 2SL	CV3 6EZ				Status:		Active	\sim			
Contract Equipment Parts											
Show All Equipment											
Equip	Make / Model	Serial No		Start 0	ff Hire	Status	Rate				
▶ 3381 Q Mettler-Toleda	o/X700	8312684		12/12/2002		Active	£229.00				
Add Witard Add Extrat.	Charge History 3	Suspend Comfin	m Ur	confirm		Total	£229.00	×			
1 🛃 🔊 🖾 📓 🗋 🖆 Ca <u>n</u> cel	Print Agree	e Deposit Invoice	Despate	ch Transport Requests	Invoice	Collect <u>T</u> e	erminate C	lose			



Creating Hire Contracts

There are 3 main ways to create a New Hire Contract on the Protean system, which are as follows:

- 1. The Main Contract screen: When you need full control over all options and settings.
- 2. The Quick On-Hire screen: For creating simple Contracts, when time is at a premium.
- 3. The Hire Contract Creation Wizard: Step by step Contract creation for those that like a helping hand.

Using the Hire Contract Creation Wizard to create a Contract:

The Contract Creation Wizard is designed to guide the user through creating a new Hire Contract as smoothly and painlessly as possible. The Wizard will ask you set of very simple questions. The answers to these questions are used as the skeleton to create the Contract.

Some of the background detail will come from General Settings and the Hire Contract Type you select, although any Contracts created via the Wizard can quite simply be amended using the main Contract screen once created.

- You are only asked one question at a time on uncluttered screens.
- The Wizard will only allow you to move on from a question once a satisfactory answer has been given.
- If the questions does not need to be answered it will let you move on without answering.
- The 'navigation' buttons at the bottom of the Wizard will only become available if they are allowed in the circumstances.

To create a new Hire Contract using the Contract Wizard, click on the drop down arrow below the **Hire Icon** and select **Contract Wizard**:



The system will then display a screen as shown below:



You then have to enter information as requested and then click on the Next button to work your way through the various screens as required.

Author: David Morris Last Edited By: David Morris



Internal Messages

Protean has an internal messaging system, which allows email-like messages to be sent and received by users of the Protean system. Messages can be sent from the Protean desktop application to other user of that application or to engineers using mobile devices and vice versa.

1. To send an internal message, click on the drop down arrow shown below the Inbox Icon and select Create Message:

🔍 🗢	l I ₹ Protear											n - Training 7.3.4171				
File	Home	System														
8					Ē		8		Щ.	<u>8</u> 2	2		-	-	9	
Customers	Suppliers	Stock	Purchases	Sales	Invoices	Equipment	Hire	Maintenance	Jobs	Plannerboard	Tasks	Inbox	Reports	Windows	He	
												Create Message		essage		
												om	View Outb	xox		
													Messagin	g Options		
															_	

2. A new internal message screen opens:

🔳 Messa	ge - <new></new>							23
Sent:]				Status:		
To:								
Subject:								
Attachmen	ts:							
Document:		~		···· 9	Delivery F	Receipt	Read R	eceipt
1	۷ 📓 🎴	<u>D</u> elete	Sen	d <u>A</u>	chive		Clos	æ
1	▶ <u>⊾</u> _	Delete	Sen		chive		Clos	æ

...

- 3. Click on the button in the top right-hand corner, to access the list of potential recipients.
- 4. Highlight the name(s) of the users you wish to send this message to and use the button to move them across into the **Selected Recipient** list:

5. (If you select an incorrect recipient, use the **Kecipient** button to move a selected recipient back into the **Available Recipient** list. This list can also contain Recipient Groups as well, to allow to send messages to multiple contact more quickly).



6. When you have selected all of the intended recipients, click on the **Close** button and you'll be returned to the main message screen:

-s Mess	age - <new></new>						23
Sent:				S	tatus:	Draf	t
To:	Chris Morgan						
Subject:							
Attacrime	nts:						
Document	:	~		Q Delivery R	eceipt	Read R	eceipt
†	۵ 📔 🍳	Delete	Send	Archive		⊆los	se

- **Subject:** Enter the subject of your message.
- Main Body of screen: Enter the text to appear on the message.
- Attachments: If you wish to attach a file to this message then click on the button on the right-hand side of the Attachments field. A browse window opens allowing you to search your computer for the appropriate file to attach. Files of any type can be attached.
- **Document:** In this field you can also specify a document on Protean to link this message to. For example if the message refers to a particular Customer, or Job, or Purchase Order, you can link it to that screen so that the recipient is given a link to the relevant document when they receive your message.
- **Delivery Receipt:** Tick this box to receive a message when the message arrives in the recipient's inbox.
- **Read Receipt:** Tick this box to receive a message when they open your message.

Once all of the details of the message have been entered, click on the Send button.

Viewing Internal Messages:

All internal messages that a user receives, will then appear on the users screen for them to view and deal with accordingly:

-a Mess	age - Demo Message				- 23
From:	Chris Morgan	Received:	Tue 16/08/2016 10:	28 Status:	Read
To:	Chris Morgan				
Subject:	Demo Message				
Hi Chris,					
Don't wor	ry this is a demo message	for test purposes on	y.		
Many tha	nks				
Attachme	nts:				
Document	t:	~			
1	۵	Reply Reply	All <u>F</u> orward	Archive	Close

If the user who sent the internal message had either added an attachment or linked the message to a document, these can be quickly accessed by clicking on the appropriate button shown at the bottom of the screen.

Users can also view all of the messages they receive, by clicking on the Inbox icon:





The system will then display the list of received messages:

Global Enquiry	- Inbox - 1 record											53
📄 🔎 👌	👌 🖺 😂 👔	🌛 😰 🤒 Reply	🧟 Reply All ا	ward 💋 Archive 📑 R	eceive							
Accounting	Customer	nn Equip				Statu	From Re	eceived	U Type			V.
CRM		U Filter				🗸 🚥 Statu	sTo Re	eed	~	Pilter	Reset	
Equipment	From	Subject		Received T	Read Document Type	Document No Sta	lui					
Organiser	M Chris Morgan	Demo Message		Tue 16/08/2016 10:28 Tu	e 16/08/2016 11:54	Rea	a –					
Inbox												
<u>7</u>												
Outher												
COLLON												
$\langle X \rangle$												
Taska												
Stock												
Favourites												

These can then be read, replied to, forwarded etc. as required.

Saving a received Internal Message:



button to "save" the message and change the status of the message to Archived, so Users can also use the that it "hides" it from the main Messages Global Enquiry screen.

Archived messages can be read, by simply changing the status in the "Status From" field to Archived:

Status From	Archived	\sim
Status To	Archived	\sim



<u>Tasks</u>

When using Tasks on the Protean system, the first thing to decide is which Task form do you want to use. There are two task forms within Protean, the **Standard** Task form, and the **Sales** Task Form (see below).

This is determined by your System setting for each individual Employee, by clicking on System > Employees:



1. Then click on the Other Tab:



2. If you want to use the Simple Task Form, then don't tick the box. This will mean that the user will be presented with the Simple Task screen as shown below:

🗔 Task - <new></new>			⊠ ⊠
General Details			
	Task		
Type:	•	Status:	Active
Description:		Priority:	Low 💌
Campaign:	🔍 Clea	r Created For:	Chris Morgan 💌
Document:	▼ €	Created By:	Chris Morgan 💌
Attachments:	No	Task No:	
	Company		
Sales Opportunity:			🔍 Clear History 🕂
Contact:			Clear History
	Extn:		
Company:			Clear History
	Time		
Date:	03/03/2016 m Time: 12:10 🕲		
	Remind me beforehand		
	Other		
Reference 1:	Reference 2:		
1 🕹 🙆	Cancel Done Eollow Up	Quotes	Close

3. If you want the employee to use the Sales Task form, then tick the box. This will mean that the user will be presented with the Sales Task screen as shown below:

Task - <new></new>				
	Task	Customer		Contact
Type:	Priority: Low Status: Active	Alpha:	900	Contact:
Description:		Name:		Title:
Date/Time:	03/03/2016 🖾 12:10 🕑 Reminder: 🛄 15 Minutes 🖵	Street 1:		First Name:
Document:		Street 2:		Last Name:
Contact:		Town/City:		Initials:
Notes:		County:		Job Title:
		Country:		Phone, Extn:
		Post Code: Are	a:	Mobile:
		Phone:	Ĩ	Fax:
		Fax:		Email:
Attachment(s):		Email:		Reference 1:
Attachment Desc:		Website:		Reference 2:
Sales Opportunity:		Regions:	-	Customer Attributes
Reference 1:	Created For: Chris Morgan	Industry:	-	Current Provider
Reference 2:	Created By: Chris Morgan	Equip Contact:	- 9	Properties Qty
Campaign:	🗋 🔍 Task No:	Sales Rep:	-	Lifts Qty
	History	Last Contacted:		Managing agent
	Filter by Sales Opportunity	Description		
	Follow Up		Custome	r Lists
Type:	✓ For: Chris Morgan			
Description:				
Date: 03/0	03/2016 🗐 12:10 🕲 Reminder: 🗌 15 Minutes 🖵 Create			
1 🕹 😰	Cancel	Quotes		Done Dose



Creating a new Task (using the Sale Task form):

To create a new Task, click on the drop down arrow below the Tasks Icon and select **Create Task**:



The system will then display the appropriate Task screen seen earlier:

Task - <new></new>				
	Task		Customer	Contact
Type:	Priority: Low Status: Active	Alpha:		Contact:
Description:		Name:		Title:
Date/Time:	03/03/2016 🗐 12:21 🕲 Reminder: 🗌 15 Minutes 🚽	Street 1:		First Name:
Document:		Street 2:		Last Name:
Contact:	Ø	Town/City:		Initials:
Notes:		County:		Job Title:
		Country:		Phone, Extn:
		Post Code:	Area:	Mobile:
		Phone:	(Ø)	Fax:
		Fax:		Email:
Attachment(s):		Email:		Reference 1:
Attachment Desc:		Website:	6	Reference 2:
Sales Opportunity:		Regions:		Customer Attributes
Reference 1:	Created For: Chris Morgan	Industry:		Current Provider
Reference 2:	Created By: Chris Morgan	Equip Contact:	- 9	Properties Qty
Campaign:	🗅 🔍 Task No:	Sales Rep:		Lifts Qty
	History	Last Contacted:	[III]	Managing agent
	Filter by Sales Opportunity	Description		
	Follow Up		Custome	r Lists
Type:	▼ For: Chris Morgan ▼			
Description:				
Date: 03/0	3/2016 🗐 12:21 🙆 Reminder: 🗌 15 Minutes 🖵 Create			
1 🕹 🙆	Cancel		Quotes	Qone Qlose

The screen is split up into various sections:

Task Section:

1. Using the drop down arrow icon, select the type of Task which is required. These are setup in Settings > CRM > Task Types.

For example a task type of "Phone call" may be required to contact a customer to chase the payment of an invoice, or you may wish to choose "Reminder" to remind you to order a part for a piece of equipment.

- 2. If required you can choose a priority from the drop-down list to mark this task as **High**, **Medium** or **Low** priority.
- 3. Now enter in a **Description** of what task you will need to perform.

For example "Courtesy call to customer".

4. If you want Protean to remind you that a task is due, tick the Reminder box and enter the time interval at which you would like to be reminded. You can enter how many minutes you want the Pop-Up box to appear on the screen prior to the time you have entered for the task to be completed.

For example if a task was requiring completion at 12pm and 'Remind me' was set at 15 minutes; Protean will show a pop-up box at 11.45am advising you of the forthcoming task which requires an action.

- 5. You can choose to attach your Task to a Document, using the **Document** drop down arrow.
- 6. Once selected, you can then use the Search button:, to then search for the document required. If this task is not connected to a Document, then leave this field blank.
- 7. Use the **Notes** box to add any additional notes that may be required.
- 8. You can use the Attachment(s) field to attach any particular documents, files etc. that are linked to the Task being created.

For example you may want to add a Quote which needs to be emailed to a customer.



9. To do this, click on the Search button: 🛄 and the system will display the **Attached Files** screen:



- 10. Then click on the Add File button shown in the bottom left hand corner of the screen:
- 11. Search for the File required and then click on the **Open** button. Then click on the **Close** button.
- 12. This Task can be linked to a **Sales Opportunity** by clicking on the Search button: **und** the system will display a list of existing Sales Opportunities already created in the system.
- 13. You can also create a new Sales Opportunity, by clicking on the Create New button: 🚟 .
- 14. Up to 2 additional fields of reference can be entered in the **Reference 1** & **Reference 2** fields. The descriptions of these fields can be setup in **System ¦ More ¦ User References** and then selecting **Tasks.** Enter the new descriptions required:

Reference 1:	
Reference 2:	

- 15. Then click on the **Close** button.

Customer Section:

1. Enter the **Alpha Code** of the Customer / Site / Prospect if know, or use the Search button: . Once the required record is selected, the system will display the Customer details and any Contact details if applicable:

	Customer	
Alpha:	PSP4503	
Name:	Smith & Co	
Street 1:	1 High Street	
Street 2:		1
Town/City:	Coventry	
County:	West Midlands	
Country:	United Kingdom	•
Post Code:	CV5 6UB	Area:
Phone:	024 7671 0300	Ø
Fax:		
Email:	protean@protea	nsoftware.co 🖂
Website:		
Regions:		•
Industry:		•
Equip Contact:	James Smith	- 9
Sales Rep:		•
Last Contacted:	[m]]
Description		

In this screen, the details shown can be added, amended as required.



Contact Section:

If already attached to the Customer record already selected, details of the Contact will also be displayed:

	Contact
Contact:	James Smith (Mr 🖵 🔍 🕒 🕂
Title:	Mr 💌
First Name:	James
Last Name:	Smith
Initials:	J
Job Title:	
Phone, Extn:	024 7671 0300
Mobile:	Ø
Fax:	
Email:	
Reference 1:	•
Reference 2:	

In this screen, the details shown can be added, amended as required.

Customer Attributes Section:

If Customer Attributes have been setup in **Settings ¦ CRM ¦ Customer Attributes**, they will be listed in this section:

Customer Attributes			
Current Provider	•		
Properties Qty	_		
Lifts Qty			
Managing agent			

In this screen, the details shown can be added / amended as required.

History Section:

This will display the CRM history of the Customer and will be completed by the system as various Actions / Tasks are completed.

Follow Up Section:

You can use this section to setup a follow up task if required.

Completing a Task:

Once all of the information has been entered, click on the **Done** button. After clicking on the **Yes** button to confirm that you wish the Task to be marked as Complete, the CRM History is then updated accordingly:





Tasks - Creating for Other Users

• Create the Task in the normal way, as described above. Then in the Tasks Section, there is a field with a dropdown list called 'Created For':

Attachment(s):		🔍 💠
Attachment Desc:		
Sales Opportunity:		🔍 🗅 🕂
Reference 1:	Created For:	Chris Morgan 🗸
Reference 2:	Created By:	Chris Morgan 🔍
Campaign:	🗋 🔍 Task No:	
	History	

- Use this list to select the user that this Task is for and then close the Task.
- The Task will be added to that users Task List on the Global Enquiry screen, and if a reminder has been requested, this too will pop-up on the selected users screen.

Note: As the Task system is user-based it will not matter which PC he/she uses, the reminder will still find them.

Protean Software

Reports

The Protean System comes with a variety of standard reports, which can be accessed by clicking on the Reports Icon:



The system will then display a screen as shown:

1	
Report selection	Report criteria
vstem	
lenorte	Dates
	From E O
	To
	Depot
	Customer
	Equipment
headallan .	
Add to Favourites	
Drink View OutwritTe Cand Eau	Close

Then use the drop down arrow icon next to the System field, to select the area of the system you need a report for.

Depending upon which area is chosen, the system will then display all of the standard reports. By single clicking on the Report Name, the system will give a brief description of what is contained in the report.

Report criteria can also be entered in the top right hand corner of the screen if required. The fields available are dependent on the report selected.

Once the report has been selected, any criteria entered you can then either print / view / fax or email the report, or alternatively output the report into another format, such as PDF or Excel for example.

Favourites:

To save searching for a report each time you want to run it, you can set it up as a Favourite.

To do this, simply single click on the report required and then click on the Add to Favourites button. Click on **Yes** to confirm your selection. Follow this process each time you wish to add a report to your list of favourites.

Next time you click on the Reports Icon, the system will then display your own personal list of favourite reports that you've setup:

ĺ	🔚 Reports System	
	Report selection	1
	System (Favourites)	
	Reports	
	Completed Service Jobs by Site Route Engineer Overtime Analysis - Detailed Non Moving Stock Top 100 Fastest Moving Parts	

Note: If you wish to remove a report from your Favourites list, simply single click on the report concerned and then click on the Remove from Favourites button.

Last Edited By: David Morris

New Starter User Guide

Hints & Tips

Please find below some basic tips to help you navigate the Protean System.

Deleting Records:

Throughout the Protean system, you are able to delete certain records from various screens. However, the way that you do this does depend on which screen you are in and what item you're trying to delete.

- Using the Delete button: On a Job, in the screen that displays the various visits that have been made on the Job, you can delete a visit by selecting the visit required using the small arrow column on the far left hand side of the screen and then click on the Delete Visit button shown in the bottom left hand corner of the screen (The ability to delete a visit in this way, is dependent on the status of the visit selected).
- 2. Using the button: For example, on a Job screen, in the screen that displays the various Part Stock Records added to the Job, you can use this button to delete it. You must firstly select the part required, using the small arrow column on the far left hand side of the screen and then click on the shown along the bottom of the screen.

(The ability to delete a part in this way, is dependent on various criteria that the system will warn you about when you attempt to delete it).

3. Using the Delete key on your keyboard: For example, if you enter a Part Number on a Sales Order and you then decide that you don't want it anymore, you have to use the Delete key on your keyboard to remove it from the Sales Order. You must firstly select the part required, using the small arrow column on the far left hand side of

the screen and then use the Delete key on your keyboard to remove it from the Sales Order.

(The ability to delete a part of a Parts Sales Order, is dependent on the status of the Sales Order itself. If the Sales Order has already been placed, then this functionality isn't available).









Using the Esc button on your keyboard:

If you are ever using the system and the screen appears to have locked up and won't let you proceed, try using the **Esc Key** on your Keyboard to allow you to carry on. A common error message that is displayed looks like this one:

Click on the **OK** button to acknowledge the message and then press the **Esc Key** on your keyboard.



The system should then allow you to enter the information in again or to exit from the screen concerned.

The View Button:

If your Company is using Multi Equipment Jobs, on a Job and in the Equipment Screen, the system will display an additional View 1 button in the bottom right hand corner of the screen, which is not seen on Single Equipment Jobs:

P	laiı	n Equipment (Labour Parts Misc	Attributes Invoicing	Summary						
Γ		Equip No	Make/Model	Serial No	Location	Service Group	Service Type	Target Hrs	Charge	Status	S
		3321	Wickman/R455	1061098	Collection Bay	Grinding Machines	Minor Service 🗸	15	£450.00	Outstanding	\sim
	۲	3365	Mettler-Toledo/L100	502107	Warehouse	Grinding Machines	Minor Service 🗸	15	£450.00	Outstanding	\sim
10	*						~				\sim
1											
L		3365	🚥 🔍 🗙 Add Service	Group Add to new Job	Parts	Misc Meters	Add to Contract Totals:	30.00	£900.00	Transport View	v1

By clicking on this <u>View1</u> button, a user can scroll through a number of additional screens, which will display additional information as required.



On screen Help:

As you navigate around the system, don't forget that you can press the **F1 key** on your keyboard to get some basic help on the screen / process you are currently in. For example, if a user is in a Maintenance Contract screen:

	Customer		Dates				Contract			
02	9	Start:	06/11/2000 (20)	Entered By:	Jermain Def	oe.	 Contract No: 	100	6	
Machine To	pols Ltd	End:		Sales Rep:			 Type: 	Fully chargeat	ble	~
Cotswold De	rive	Renewal:	(1)	Analysis 1:			Cust Ref:	423423		
entry			Labour Profile	Reference 2:			Depoti	Nottingham		Y
6EZ		Profile:	Discount labour prof 🥪	Reference 3:			Status:		Active	
tract Eq	uipment									
Show y	Al Equipment ip Make /	Hodel	Site	Location Sta	art Date End I	ate In	r From Sync D	ate Rsp Hrs	Honthly Fe	e S
8356	Oxford/PD25		ABC Second Depot	Pinal asser 06/1	1/2000 51	IR 06/01	7/2015 🖭	<u>82</u> 4	£200.00	🗹
					251	100	×.			
8356				Servicine	Ourzal	istory		Total:	£290.00	

Pressing the **F1** key on the keyboard would then display some basic information regarding Maintenance Contracts:



Contacting our Support Desk:

Our support team are available from 8:45am to 5:15pm Monday to Friday. Their contact details are as follows:

- Telephone Number: 02476 710310
- Email Address: <u>support@proteansoftware.co.uk</u>

If you are receiving an error message on your screen, if possible, it is always a good idea to make a note of the error message or better still take a screen shot, which will enable our support team to advise you accordingly.

Additional Courses:

We also currently offer a range of more detailed Classroom Training Courses, covering the following areas of the system:

- CRM Module
- Stock Management Module
- Hire Module
- Maintenance Module
- Job Management Module
- Mobile Engineer PDA Application

Please contact us on <u>consultants@proteansoftware.co.uk</u> for further information on course contents, dates etc.